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To Stergitsa


AUTHOR’S NOTE

Wherever possible I have avoided the word ‘discover’ in relation to European forays around and into Australia and other parts of the New World, but in some instances it was unwieldy to avoid the verb. Where I have used ‘discovered’ in relation to European exploration, I do so meaning the first European discovery. I hope readers are comfortable with this – it does not indicate that I believe Australia or any other lands were undiscovered before Europeans landed on or settled them.
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CHAPTER 1

FIRST EXPLORATIONS

On the afternoon of 8 April 1802, in a remote part of the Southern Ocean where no ship had ever sailed before, two explorers had a chance encounter. Sailing west along the world’s largest remaining stretch of uncharted coast was the French ship Le Géographe, captained by Nicolas Thomas Baudin; heading east was the English ship Investigator, captained by Matthew Flinders.

Baudin and Flinders were both on the same quest. They had each been sent by their government to explore thousands of kilometres of unknown coast of the Great South Land, and to find out if the west coast of New Holland, as it was called then, and the east coast of New South Wales, 4000 kilometres away, were part of the same land or separated by a sea, or a strait. Over the next three years, Baudin and Flinders would both command ill-fated expeditions as they rivalled each other to produce the first complete map of this largely unexplored continent.

*

The French and the British were both relative latecomers to the Great South Land. For more than 200 years, other European navigators and explorers had visited, and some had charted, various parts of its coast.

The first documented European visits to Australia were both in 1606: one by a Spanish explorer, Luis Váez de Torres; and one by a Dutchman, Willem Janszoon. But there is some pretty compelling evidence suggesting that other Europeans had arrived much earlier, including surviving maps indicating Portuguese seafarers may have sailed along large sections of the Australian coast in the early 1500s.

The Portuguese were the first Europeans to sail into the Indian Ocean, when Bartholomeu Diaz navigated the Cape of Good Hope in 1486 and, a little more than a decade later, in 1497, Vasco da Gama sailed two ships to India and then back to Lisbon. Over the next century, the Portuguese developed a network of trading routes in the southern hemisphere, connecting South America, southern Africa, India and the Pacific as far as Timor. A major impetus for the trade was to collect spices and herbs that were not then available in Europe, including ginger, cloves, nutmeg, cinnamon, lemongrass, curry, vanilla and fennel.

The theory that the Portuguese may also have reached as far as Australia is largely based on old maps that contain a number of coastal features strikingly similar to the Australian shoreline. The beautifully made French Dieppe maps are believed to be reproductions of Portuguese originals, and they show a land mass named Java la Grande between Indonesia and Antarctica. They were made by the Dieppe Cartography Department for wealthy and royal patrons and included the Dauphin map of 1547, which was ordered by King Francis I of France as a gift to his son the Dauphin, who later became King Henry II. The map, which is now in the British Library, depicts a coastline that appears similar to the features of the Australian coast from Cape York to the current-day southern Victoria.

Other surviving charts from this period include a book of maps dated 1542 that was presented to England’s King Henry VIII by Frenchman Jean Rotz, an artist-cartographer who was a member of the Dieppe School. The Jean Rotz maps depict a coastline similar to some of Australia’s north and east coasts. Then in 1566 Nicolas Desliens created a world map whose depiction of Australia had similar features to one of the far north-east coast of the continent made 200 years later by Captain James Cook. Also supporting the theory of an earlier Portuguese discovery of Australia was the claim in 1836 by two whalers that they had found the remains of a sixteenth-century Portuguese ship on a deserted stretch of beach on the southern Australian coast near Warrnambool. There were other reported sightings over the next few decades, but no more evidence has been found since the 1880s, despite the offer of a $250,000 reward by the Victorian state government in the late 1970s.

Historians are divided as to whether the maps are proof that the Portuguese had, albeit unwittingly and presumably unknowingly, discovered Australia in the early sixteenth century. Some argue the coastal features on the maps are too accurate for their likeness to the Australian coast to be a coincidence. The explorer Matthew Flinders was among those who thought the Portuguese had been to the Great South Land many years before him; he said of the surviving maps that ‘the direction given to some parts of the coast, approaches too near the truth, for the whole to have been marked by conjecture alone’.1

Others, however, argue the maps are merely theoretical constructs and not the result of actual discovery.2 They point out that the theory of earlier Portuguese discoveries rests almost entirely on the Dieppe maps. There are no surviving Portuguese charts from the sixteenth century that show any traces of a large landmass, and there are no records of any European sailing along the coast of Australia before 1606.3 It has also been argued that the features of Java la Grande on the Dieppe maps could resemble the coast of Indonesia and Indochina as much as they do Australia.

It is known that, by the end of the eighteenth century, men from Malaya had a well-established trade fishing for turtles and trepang, or sea cucumbers, on the north and west coasts of Australia. The men arrived in October and November in fleets of small wooden boats that fanned out across the Top End to fish throughout the summer. Each boat weighed about twenty tons and had a crew of about twenty men who lived on deck in bamboo cabins. The trepang were taken ashore and boiled, sun-dried and then smoked, before being sold in China, where they were regarded as a great delicacy. In 1803 Flinders met some of these seamen and speculated they had fished large parts of the coast for many years, as he had seen traces of them ‘so abundantly along the coast of the Gulf’.4 The French explorer Nicolas Baudin also recorded seeing the fishermen on a different part of the north coast of Australia on his expedition in the same year.

It has been claimed that the Chinese reached the east coast of Australia as early as the time of the Han Dynasty (202 BC–AD 220) and perhaps even further back, in the undocumented past.5 In recent decades a number of books have argued that ancient maps suggest Chinese navigators charted parts of the east coast of Australia up to a century before the Portuguese.6

However, the first documented European visits to Australia were by the Dutchman Willem Janszoon and, separately, the Spaniard Luis Váez de Torres in 1606 – one coming from the west and the other from the east, and, in an amazing coincidence, both reaching the same parts of the north Australian coast within months of each other.

Willem Janszoon was thirty-five years old when he was sent by his employer, the Dutch East India Company, to search ‘the vast land of Nova Guinea and other east and south lands’.7 Janszoon was not sent on a voyage of scientific exploration but to look for gold and new trading opportunities for the Dutch, who by now had taken over most of the former Portuguese trade routes and become the dominant economic power in the East Indies. Unlike the French and the British, who more than a century later would send well-equipped ships on expeditions of scientific inquiry, the Dutch, like the Portuguese and the Spanish, were only interested in discovery for commercial gain.

The Dutch East India Company, or VOC (Vereenigde Oostindische Compagnie), was created in 1602 by the Dutch government, amalgamating competing Dutch merchants and granting them a monopoly in the spice trade in Asia. Janszoon had joined the Dutch East India Company as a sixteen-year-old cadet in 1586 and was on his third trip to the East Indies, having first sailed there as a mate on the Hollandia in 1598. The company and those who were part of it were given wide-ranging powers by the Dutch government, including the authority to establish colonies, negotiate treaties, coin money and wage war. They were at liberty to exploit any resources or riches they found, and they ruthlessly crushed all local resistance. In the East Indies, the VOC was effectively a government in its own right and answerable to no one.

The first Dutch trading settlement was established in Bantam, in West Java, in 1602. By the beginning of the seventeenth century, the Dutch had become the most prominent European traders in the East Indies, having taken over many of the ports from the Portuguese and the Spanish, as both empires were in decline. In 1619, the governor-general of the VOC, Jan Pieterszoon Coen, invaded Batavia (current-day Jakarta) with a fleet of nineteen warships, routed the local resistance and established the Dutch provincial capital of Batavia. Over the next half-century, with Batavia as its provincial capital, the Dutch expanded their ports across South-East Asia, including Kupang (in Timor), Makassar, Manado, Sulawesi and Malacca.

Willem Janszoon arrived in Java as part of a convoy in 1605, commanding the Duyfken (Little Dove), before he was sent by the Dutch East India Company to search for possible trading opportunities to the south-east. The Duyfken was a tiny ship – only nineteen metres long – but, being smaller than other ships of that time, it was more manoeuvrable and suitable for exploring closer to shore. Included in the crew of roughly ninety men was a senior company representative, Lodewijksz van Rosingeyn.8 The ship probably carried about ten guns. Eight would have been small bronze or iron cannons and the remaining two the old-style stonepieces, so called for the stone balls they shot from a swivel, across a wide angle.9

Unfortunately no log or journal survives of this expedition, but later copies of the charts of the voyage show that Janszoon first saw land near the mouth of the Pennefather River, about 150 kilometres south of the top of Cape York Peninsula. Seeing nothing of commercial value, he continued south for about 300 kilometres along the eastern side of the coast, which was still thought to be an extension of New Guinea, until he reached what is today known as Weipa, on the Gulf of Carpentaria side of the Cape York Peninsula.

It was on the Janszoon voyage that the first violent clashes between Europeans and Aboriginal people are claimed to have occurred. They are said to have taken place at a spot marked on Janszoon’s map as Cabo Keerweer (Cape Turn-about), not far from Weipa. While no firsthand account survives, a number of later Dutch records say that the local Aboriginal people attacked and killed nine of the Duyfken’s crew who had gone ashore. Nearly forty years later, when the navigator Abel Tasman was to embark on his second great voyage in this same area, he was warned of ‘places inhabited by wild, cruel, black savages, by whom some of the [Duyfken] crew were murdered’.10

However, in the oral history of the local Wik people that was passed down and recorded in the late twentieth century, it was alleged that the killings were in retaliation for the murder of local Aboriginals and the abduction of some Aboriginal women. In one account, it was claimed that ‘the Dutch shot many Aboriginal people along the river and in the bush land. Also the warriors speared and killed some Dutchmen and made the Dutch go back to their ship.’11

Janszoon and his Dutch masters were at the time unaware of the significance of his discovery. They thought the Duyfken had been charting a southern extension of the New Guinea coast and were unaware they had been the first Europeans known to have set foot on Australia.

Janszoon’s voyage offered very little in the way of possible trading opportunities, so it was of scant use to the Dutch. If, however, his voyage had shown prospects for profitable trade, Australia might well have gone on to become a Dutch possession.

After returning to Batavia, over the following two decades Janszoon served in a number of senior posts, including as an admiral and governor of the Dutch East Indian settlement of Banda, near current-day Ambon. He returned to the Netherlands in 1629 and is believed to have died the following year, aged about sixty.

In a remarkable coincidence, only months after Janszoon was in the Gulf of Carpentaria, Spaniard Luis Váez de Torres sailed from the east through the islands that separated New Guinea from Australia.

While the Portuguese had been developing trade routes from Lisbon, via the Cape of Good Hope, to the east since the early 1500s, the Spanish had been coming around Cape Horn at the southernmost tip of South America. Ferdinand Magellan was the first to open up the East Indies to Spanish traders from the east when he sailed from the Atlantic, through the narrow strait at the bottom of South America that bears his name, and into the Pacific Ocean – the quiet sea. In addition to controlling large parts of the Caribbean, and Central and South America, the Spanish established a network of trading centres in the Pacific, including the Philippines, Guam and parts of Formosa (Taiwan).

Torres was commander of the San Pedro, one of three Spanish ships of an expedition led by Pedro Fernández de Quirós that left Callao, in Peru, in December 1605 to search for the much-discussed but never-found Great South Land that had appeared on the earlier Dieppe maps.

Little is known about Torres, and most of the information about his voyage comes from a letter he wrote to King Philip III of Spain in 1607 and from a later account written by one of his fellow officers, Don Diego de Prado y Tovar.

After sailing for six months and discovering the New Hebrides (Vanuatu), the San Pederico and the third ship, Los Tres Reyes Margos, became separated from de Quirós’s flagship, the San Pedro. Following contingency instructions, Torres continued to search for the Great South Land and, with great care, eventually managed to navigate the dangerous reef that separates the north of Australia from New Guinea. Torres then explored part of the New Guinea coast, which he claimed on behalf of King Philip III of Spain, before heading north and reaching Manila in May 1607, after which his name disappears from history.

Torres did not know that, as he passed through the strait, he had sailed past the Great South Land; he recorded seeing only some ‘very large islands’ to the south.12

The Spanish did not divulge Torres’s discoveries to their European rivals, and it was not until the British came into possession of the charts more than 150 years later that the passage became more widely known and named Torres Strait, after its discoverer.

After the visits by Torres and Janszoon, a number of other Dutch East India Company ships were sent to explore the north coast of this land, but over the next fifty years many more landed by accident or were wrecked on the west coast of what later became known as New Holland.

In December 1610, Dutchman Henrik Brouwer discovered a route that reduced to about six months the journey time from Europe to the Dutch East Indies, which had been well over a year. Up until Brouwer’s discovery, ships bound for the East Indies travelled on much the same route as the Portuguese had sailed a hundred years before: around the Cape of Good Hope, then north through the Mozambique Channel, which separates the eastern African coast from Madagascar, sometimes calling at India, then east across the Indian Ocean.

Brouwer discovered that by sailing south after the Cape of Good Hope to a latitude of around forty degrees or more, a ship would be driven much more quickly by the strong westerly winds, which became known as the roaring forties. Once across the south of the Indian Ocean, the ship could then turn north for the Dutch East Indian ports. Even though the distance was greater, the voyage was completed more quickly. The ‘Brouwer route’ soon became the standard route for all European ships bound for the east.

However, by going too far east before turning north, many ships unwittingly reached the west coast of New Holland and were wrecked on the shore. Travelling the Brouwer route was more hazardous for early navigators because of the difficulty of calculating their longitude, or the distance they had travelled from west to east.

Estimating longitude did not become a science until the invention of reliable mechanical clocks. It was then possible to keep the clock on board ship on the same time as that at the port of departure. By sighting the sun at its highest point during the day, seamen could tell the time difference between local noon and noon at the ship’s original location, and from that they could calculate how far east or west they had travelled. But it was not until the second half of the seventeenth century that the first marine chronometers were introduced, and it would be almost another century before dependable and reliable clocks were invented.

Calculating latitude, or distance travelled north or south, was easier. Since ancient Greek times, navigators had known how to measure the distance from the equator by making a geometric calculation based on the angle of the sun in relation to the horizon at noon.

In the meantime, to measure the distance they had travelled east or west, navigators continued to rely on crude systems, which were far from reliable. One way was dead reckoning, which involved calculating the time travelled between fixed points on land, but this was obviously difficult for a ship out of sight of land. Another method involved calculating a ship’s speed by throwing a heavy piece of wood tied to a rope over the side and timing how long it took to reach the end of the rope. Using such methods, shipwrecks were almost inevitable.

For a while, the British adopted the Brouwer route, but they abandoned it following the wrecking of the Tryal in 1622. The Tryal became the first British ship known to have reached Australian waters when it crashed onto rocks near Montebello and Barrow islands off the northwest coast of the mainland (near current-day Exmouth). The ship was owned by the English East India Company, which had been formed in 1600. In addition to trading in spices and herbs and other fine goods, as the VOC did, the English East India Company became a dominant trader in tea and opium, particularly with China.

When the Tryal left England under the command of Captain John Brooke with a cargo of silver, neither the captain nor any of his crew had any experience sailing the southerly route in the roaring forties. When it was about ten degrees longitude – or more than 600 kilometres – further east than it should have been, the Tryal was wrecked on what became known as Tryal Rocks.

Brooke said that following the wind, ‘veering to the south east’, the ship hit the rocks at around eleven at night on 25 May 1622. He immediately gave orders to steer in a westerly direction, but ‘the rock being sharp the ship was presently full of water’ and within three hours they began to abandon it. Brooke claimed everything was done to save the crew but the ship broke up too quickly and most were drowned: ‘[I] made all the means I could to save … as many … as I could … The [long]boat put off at 4 in the morning and half an hour after … part of the ship fell in pieces!’13

According to Thomas Bright, who also survived, ‘128 souls [were] left to God’s mercy and only 36 were saved’.14 After searching for water on nearby islands, Brooke and the surviving crew headed in the Tryal’s longboat for Batavia, where they arrived, according to Brooke, with the boat ‘1/3 full of water’ and rations nearly exhausted on 25 June.

In a letter sent from Batavia to his masters in the English East India Company, Brooke denied responsibility for the wreck. He said that he had been following the charts of another English captain, Humphrey Fitzherbert, who on the Royal Exchange had sailed that way two years before, in 1620.15 Brooke claimed that at the time of the wreck they had seen land ‘formerly seen by the [Dutch]’. However, it is unlikely that the Tryal was the first English ship to sight the Australian mainland, because Tryal Rocks is about one hundred kilometres off the north-west Australian coast.16

The exact site of the Tryal wreck remained a mystery for more than 300 years – despite many searches in the nineteenth and twentieth centuries – until it was found by a team of divers from Western Australia in 1969.

The first Dutchman known to have followed the Brouwer route and unintentionally sailed too far, thus reaching the west coast of Australia, was Dirk Hartog, in 1616. Thirty-six-year-old Hartog was an experienced local sailor when he was appointed commander of the cargo ship the Eendtracht (Concord), which was on its maiden voyage to the Dutch East Indies and weighed 700 tons, making it a large ship for its time. Leaving the Dutch port of Texel in an icy cold January, with ten chests containing 80,000 reals (pieces of eight), the ship reached the Cape of Good Hope on 27 August, after a very slow journey. Following the Brouwer route, the expedition reached an island on the edge of the western Australian coast, which became known as Dirk Hartog Island, at the entrance to the current-day Shark Bay. A week later, and before leaving to sail north, they left an inscription on a flattened pewter plate – the first record of a European landing left in Australia:



1616. 25 October is here arrived the ship the Eendracht of Amsterdam, the upper merchant Gillis Miebais of Liege, skipper Dirk Hatchs of Amsterdam; the 27th ditto set sail again for Bantam, the under merchant Jan Stins, the upper steersman Peter van Bill, Anno 1616.





(More than eighty years later, another Dutch explorer, Willem de Vlamingh, took the plaque and replaced it with a new one, which included a copy of the original text and a record of his own visit. Vlamingh took the original plaque to Batavia, from where it was later taken back to Holland, and it is now in the Rijksmuseum in Amsterdam.)

Hartog’s discovery was to have a major impact. What had been a mythical continent known as Terra Australis Incognita (the unknown southern land) began to appear on European maps, bearing the name of Hartog’s ship: Land van de Eendracht (Land of Eendracht).

A decade after Hartog’s historic landing, a fellow Dutchman, twenty-eight-year-old Pieter Nuyts, became the first to sail along a large part of the unmapped south coast of the continent.

Nuyts was born in Leiden in 1598, the son of a textile merchant. After attending university, he worked in his father’s business before joining the Dutch East India Company. By 1626 he was a senior official with the VOC. Subsequently he left his pregnant wife in Amsterdam to take up a company posting in Batavia. Taking his older son, Laurens, with him, Nuyts boarded the Guilden Seepart (Golden Seahorse), captained by François Thijssen, and left the Netherlands in May 1626 with 158 crew and passengers. Included in the passengers were six women, who were either accompanying or joining husbands who had been posted to Dutch trading settlements in the East Indies.

Seven months later, on 26 January 1627, the Guilden Seepart reached Cape Leeuwin, on the south-west tip of the continent. One hundred and sixty-one years later to the day, Captain Arthur Phillip would claim the site of Sydney on the east coast for the British, on what would become known as Australia Day.

Then, instead of heading north along the western Australian coast to its destination of Batavia, the Guilden Seepart continued east along the uncharted south coast. As scant information about the voyage survives, other than some copies of Nuyts’s charts, it is not clear whether he was instructed to explore the unknown coast or search for an alternative route to the Dutch East Indies, or was simply blown too far east. After sailing more than 1600 kilometres, he found a group of islands off the southern Australian coast opposite current-day Ceduna, which he charted. He named the two largest St Francis and St Peter, after François Thijssen and Pieter Nuyts. The islands are the oldest named parts of South Australia.

After reaching St Peter and St Francis islands, the Guilden Seepart turned around and sailed back the way it had come, to Cape Leeuwin then north along the west coast to Batavia, where it arrived on 10 April 1627.

In Batavia, Pieter Nuyts was promoted to become the Dutch East Indian ambassador to Japan, but after encountering difficulties with the Japanese, he settled on Formosa. Nuyts’s time as a diplomat was controversial. In Formosa he married a local – his first wife, Cornelia, had died – but is said to have conducted a number of affairs. Eventually recalled to Batavia, he returned to the Netherlands in 1636, where he again married in 1640.

But his new wife, Anna van Driel, died during childbirth later that year. Nuyts subsequently became a landowner in Holland and the mayor of both Hulster Ambacht and Hulst, and he married again in 1649, to Agnes Granier. When he died, in 1655, aged fifty-seven, it was found that many of the taxes he collected on behalf of the local government were unaccounted for, and eventually they had to be paid by his surviving son.

After the voyage of the Guilden Seepart, Dutch charts would name the southern shoreline ‘Landt van P. Nuyts’. The two islands of St Peter and St Francis are believed to have later been the inspiration for Jonathan Swift’s Lilliput and Blefuscu in Gulliver’s Travels, first published almost a century later, in 1726.

Two years after Nuyts’s epic journey, another Dutch ship was not so lucky when it became one of the most celebrated shipwrecks in history by foundering on the rocks off the coast of Western Australia.

The Batavia, the pride of the Dutch East India Company fleet, was on its maiden voyage. Built in 1628, the ship was fifty-seven metres long and weighed 650 tons, almost twice the size of a typical ship of that time. It left the Dutch port of Telex in October 1628 with a large sum of money and 314 crew and passengers, including women and children on their way to settle with their husbands and fathers in the Dutch provincial towns and cities of the East Indies. Captained by Ariaen Jacobsz and leading a convoy of eight other ships, the Batavia also carried the fleet commander, Francisco Pelsaert.

Making good time and taking the Brouwer route, the Batavia sailed too far and reached the west coast of Australia, where, before daylight on 5 June 1629, the ship was wrecked on the rocks of the Houtman Abrolhos islands, about fifty kilometres off the coast of current-day Geraldton.

During the day, using the Batavia’s small boats, the crew managed to ferry almost 240 people across to two nearby islands, but many others were drowned or stranded on the stricken ship. The survivors had only a small amount of food, and, while they were able to fish and hunt some sea lions, they could not find any significant quantity of drinking water.

Commander Francisco Pelsaert decided to take the Batavia’s nine-metre-long boat to the mainland to fetch some water for the castaways, then send for help to the Dutch provincial capital on Java, some 1500 kilometres to the north:



Since on all the islands or reefs round about our foundered ship Batavia, there is no water to be found, in order to feed and keep the saved people alive, therefore the Commander has earnestly besought us and proposed that we should sail to the mainland in order to see if God will grant that we find water there, to assist the people with as many trips from there until we can be certain that they will be able to remain alive for some considerable time, and meanwhile command someone to bring our sad happenings to the Hon. Lord General, to which we the undersigned have consented now that the need has been placed before us of how greatly important it is to be responsible before God and the high authorities. Have agreed and resolved to do our utmost duty in order to help our poor companions in their distress.17





However, according to Pelsaert, who wrote a journal of events after the wrecking of the Batavia, at first they could not even land on any of the nearby islands or on the mainland:



The coast here stretches mostly N by W and S by E. It is bad rocky land without trees, [the cliffs] about as high as Dover in England … We saw a small inlet … where we intended to land, but approaching, noticed that there was a big surf and many breakers near the shore; very suddenly the swell became heavy.18





A week later, they managed to land, only to find few waterholes and not much water:



The 16 [June] in the morning continued to see whether there were more such holes … But our search was in vain, it appeared that it had not rained there for a long time, nor was there any sign of running water.19





The following day, they decided to head north for Batavia, which they reached a fortnight later, with almost no drinking water left. Remarkably, all forty-eight people who had crowded on the little boat had survived the month since the sinking of the Batavia.

After arriving in port, on Monday, 10 July, Pelsaert had to confront Lord Governor Coen. Coen had been eagerly awaiting the Batavia, with its much-needed money and desperately needed reinforcements for the fortress at Batavia. The town was badly under-defended from attacks by local Bantam forces, who had never entirely ceased their onslaught since the Dutch invasion ten years before.

Commander Pelsaert was immediately ordered by Coen to take the Sardam to rescue the Batavia’s survivors, who had now been stranded with insufficient water for more than a month. The Sardam had only recently arrived in Batavia, but it was quickly readied for sail and left the following Saturday, 15 July.

Batavia’s Captain Jacobsz was not as fortunate: he and his boatswain, Jan Evertszoon, were both thrown in jail to answer charges about the sinking of the Batavia and a number of incidents on her voyage out from Holland, including the abuse of a woman passenger on her way to Batavia to meet up with her husband.

Pelsaert made good time and reached the Houtman Albrolhos islands on 10 August, but spent another month searching among the various islands before he found the wreck of the Batavia on 16 September, and the ghastly story emerged of what had happened to the survivors in the three months since the shipwreck.

A senior member of the Batavia’s crew – the onderkoopman, or under-merchant, Jeronimus Cornelisz, who had been left in charge of the survivors – had embarked on a reign of terror and murder. In order to control the limited water and food, and crush any possible dissent, his followers began a killing spree, drowning, strangling, stabbing and bludgeoning to death more than 120 men, women and children.

When Pelsaert returned and forcibly took control of the scene, he immediately tried and executed the ringleaders, including Cornelisz, with the more serious offenders having both hands cut off before being hanged.

Two of the youngest offenders, Walter Loos and a young cabin boy, who were considered to have committed only lesser crimes, were abandoned on the mainland. Many years later, British settlers noticed unusually light-skinned Aboriginal people, which fuelled speculation that the two Dutchmen may have survived and become part of a local community. However, it is also possible that if there were Dutchmen living on the mainland, they could have come from other Dutch shipwrecks on the same part of the coast, including that of the Zuytdorp, which was wrecked in a similar area in 1712.

By 5 December, seven months after the wreck, only sixty-three of the original 341 people who sailed on the Batavia had survived to reach Batavia.

The dreadful Batavia story has become etched in Australia’s history and remains the country’s biggest ever mass murder. More than 300 years later, in 1963, divers discovered the remains of the wreck, and on nearby islands they have found burial sites and remnants of the survivors’ camps. In 1972 the wreck of the ship was retrieved from the sea, and it is now exhibited in the Western Australian maritime museum, in Fremantle.

*

One of the greatest navigation achievements by the Dutch during this period – and, indeed, all of history – was by Abel Tasman, who, in two separate expeditions in 1643 and 1644, discovered large parts of the Australian coast.

Tasman was born in Lutjegast, in today’s province of Groningen, in 1603. Nothing is known of his parents or other relatives, but his later journals suggest he was reasonably well educated. It is believed that he began working with the Dutch East India Company as a vaerentgesel, or common seaman, in 1632 and gradually worked his way through the ranks.20 By twenty-nine years of age, he was widowed. After remarrying, he sailed to Batavia with the company in 1633. After a visit back to Holland, he returned to the East Indies in 1636 and captained trading missions to Formosa, Japan and Sumatra. By all accounts, Tasman gave the impression of being a man unfazed by pressure, who consulted his colleagues and was prepared to take their advice.

In 1642 he embarked on the first of his two great voyages of discovery when he was sent by the company to explore the Great South Land. Unlike many of the Dutch sailors who had reached the coast by accident in preceding years, Tasman was sent specifically to explore new trading opportunities for the Dutch East India Company by sailing thousands of kilometres deep into the Great Southern Ocean, where no one had ever ventured before. In its instructions to Tasman, the Dutch East India Company made it clear that as great wealth had been found by explorers of the New World in the northern hemisphere, the same should reasonably be expected in the southern hemisphere:



Seeing that in many countries north of the line Equinoctial (in from 15 to 40 degrees Latitude), there are found many rich mines of precious and other metals, and other treasures, there must be similar fertile and rich regions situated south of the Equator … so that it may be confidently expected that the expense and trouble that must be bestowed in the eventual discovery of so large a portion of the world, will be rewarded with certain fruits of material profit and immortal fame.21





For the expedition, Tasman was assigned two small ships, the 120-ton Heemskerck and the 200-ton Zeehaen; and with a total crew of 110 men, they left Batavia on 14 August 1642.22 There was twelve to eighteen months’ worth of provisions on board, and Tasman carried samples of minerals and spices so they could show any local people they might encounter the sorts of goods the Dutch were interested in taking.

Tasman was also looking for the possibility of new sailing routes east to South America. His comprehensive written instructions from the Dutch East India Company called for the most thorough exploration and description of the lands and the people they came to:



All the lands, islands, points, turnings, inlets, bays, rivers, shoals, banks, sands, cliffs, rocks, etc., which you shall meet with and pass, you will duly map out and describe, and also have proper drawings made of their appearance and shape … to gather information concerning the situation of the country, the fruits and cattle it produces, their method of building houses, appearance and shape of the inhabitants, their dress, arms, manners, diet, means of livelihood, religion, mode of government, wars and the like notable things, especially whether they are kindly or cruelly disposed.23





In accordance with his instructions, Tasman sailed in a wide arc – first almost 6000 kilometres west of Batavia – and reached the small island of Mauritius in the Indian Ocean in October 1642. Mauritius had first been used by the Portuguese on voyages to the East Indies at the beginning of the fifteenth century, but by the time Tasman arrived it had been a Dutch-controlled settlement for almost four decades.

Tasman stayed a month on the island, where his ships were repaired for the daunting journey ahead. Here they loaded firewood and fresh food, including more than twenty live goats and ten pigs. Tasman said that while they were in port he agreed to cut his crew’s grog ration at the request of the local governor:



The worshipful Van de Ste informed us that he got positive orders … not to serve out more than one pympetien of arrack to each of their men, and this only to such as are cold, wet and dirty. In order to maintain peace among the men and prevent discontent, ill will and envy … we have deemed it best to serve out only half a small glass of arrack to our men while we were lying in this roadstead.24





Before leaving Mauritius to sail into the Southern Ocean, Tasman described a meeting of the senior officers of both ships with the Dutch East India Company to discuss contingency plans if things went wrong:



After due deliberation we summoned on board all our skippers, first and second mates, and informed them that we desired all persons present to give their advice in writing what place were best to fix upon for a rendezvous, in case we should get separated from each other by rough weather, storms or other accidents (which we hope will be spared us and God in his mercy advert).25





Sailing vast distances in tiny leaking wooden ships – all of them leaked – on voyages that could last for several years was extremely dangerous, and death rates of more than fifty per cent of the crew were far from uncommon. The hazards included accidents, often involving falling from the rigging onto the deck or into the sea; shipwrecks; fire on board; fighting enemies at sea or being killed by hostile locals on land; starvation; and disease. However, for hundreds of years, until into the nineteenth century, the largest single killer of sailors was scurvy, which was responsible for about half of all deaths at sea. It would take the Europeans almost 250 years from the first voyages of discovery in the early fifteenth century to find the simple remedy to this terrible disease, which caused livid spots to appear all over the body, bleeding from every orifice, the loss of teeth, debilitating fatigue, depression and death. Eventually, in the mid-eighteenth century, it was learned that scurvy could be largely avoided with a regular intake of fresh food, particularly fruit and vegetables, which are a source of vitamin C. By the time of his great expeditions in the 1760s and 1770s, Captain James Cook had successfully controlled the disease, but it was still widespread on long voyages when fresh food was not available.

After leaving Mauritius, Tasman and his men headed south, reaching the latitude of 47 degrees, where, despite it being the southern hemisphere summer, it was freezing cold and wet, making the small ships not only cramped but also damp. In the high seas and strong winds, Tasman recorded in his journal that the ‘gale was attended with hail and rain to such a degree that we feared the ship would not live through it’.26

Weeks later Tasman complained of ‘hail and snow’ and very high seas and the crew suffering ‘from the severe cold’.27

Finally, on 24 November they came across land they realised had never been sighted by any Europeans before them. Tasman recorded in his journal:



This land being the first land we have met with in the South Seas and not known to any European nation we have conferred on it the name of Anthony van Diemen’s land in honour of the Honourable Governor General, our illustrious master, who sent us to make this discovery.28





When charting the location of his new discovery, Tasman calculated its longitude with an error of only 2.05 degrees from Greenwich – or 140 kilometres – which, after a journey of two months and sixteen days and covering nearly 10,000 kilometres from Mauritius, was a remarkable piece of navigation.

If Tasman believed that he had found the southernmost tip of the continent that had been touched on by many of his countrymen over the previous forty years, he made no mention of it. On 2 December, almost five months since leaving Batavia, a number of the Dutch were sent ashore to look for firewood and fresh water. They found that in contrast to the barren north, west and south coast of New Holland, Van Diemen’s Land had an abundance of good timber, drinking water and some edible vegetable matter:



About three hours before nightfall the boats came back, bringing various samples of vegetables which they had seen growing there in great abundance, some of them in appearance not unlike a certain plant growing at the Cape of Good Hope and fit to be used as pot-herbs.29





They did not meet any local Aboriginal people but regularly saw smoke from fires, which Tasman said meant ‘there can be no doubt there must be men here of extraordinary nature’. Tasman said his men also found traces of wildlife, including evidence of what later became known as the Tasmanian tiger:



On the ground they had observed certain footprints of animals, not unlike those of tiger’s claws; they brought on board certain specimens of animal excrement voided by quadrupeds, so far as they could surmise and observe, together with a small quantity of gum … which had exuded from the trees.30





Later, the Dutch on shore saw more smoke and fireplaces and suspected that they were being closely watched by men hiding nearby. Tasman said they made no attempt to search for the local people as they were in a hurry to look for trade potential for the Dutch East India Company:



We had ordered them to return speedily, partly in order to be made acquainted with what they had seen, and partly that we might be able to send them to other points if they should find no profit there, to the end that no precious time might be wasted.31





On 3 December, only a day before leaving the newly discovered land, Tasman became the first European to claim legal ownership of Australian territory on behalf of his country:



In the afternoon we went to the south-east side of the bay in the boats … we carried with us a pole with the company’s mark carved into it, and the Prince flag [of Holland] to be set up there, that those who shall come after us may become aware that we have been here, and we have taken possession of the said land as our lawful property.32





Tasman left Van Diemen’s Land, continued east and made a similar territorial claim nine days later, when he became the first European to reach what later became known as the South Island of New Zealand. He then headed north, via the Friendly Islands (Tonga), and around the top of New Guinea, and arrived back in Batavia on 15 June after a voyage of ten months.

Although Tasman had found little of intrinsic trading value on his voyage of discovery, he and the crew were paid a bonus by the Dutch East India Company:



although in fact no treasures or profitable commodities have been found … we have unanimously resolved … to award a recompense … to the Commander, skippers, supercargoes and sub-cargoes, steersmen, inclusive of the book-keeper, two months’ pay each, and to the common sailors one month’s pay each.33





Almost immediately after reaching Batavia and with the support of the governor, Anthony van Diemen, Tasman was sent off on another exploration in 1644, with instructions to:



obtain a thorough knowledge of the extensive countries, the discovery whereof has begun … [It] now only remains for the future to discover whether New Guinea is one continent with the great south land, or separated by channels and islands lying between them, and also whether the new Van Diemen’s Land is the same continent.





Again the aim of the company was the discovery of new wealth, and after Tasman’s expedition they intended to send more ships to search for riches:



By September next, when the projected discovery of the north coast of the south land is likely to have been successfully effected, we also intend to dispatch two or three yachts for the further exploration of the newly discovered South-lands, with express orders to ascertain what advantages for the Company may be obtained there. They will especially have to inquire whether in these vast regions there are any silver-, gold-, or copper-mines, which we deem very likely, seeing they are situated under a climate especially adapted for such mines, and resembling that of the silver- and gold-bearing regions of Peru, Chile, China and Japan.34





In the event that Tasman found gold or silver, he was instructed to cheat the locals by not indicating how valuable it was:



Find out what commodities their country yields, likewise inquiring after gold and silver … making them believe that you are by no means eager for precious metals, so as to leave them ignorant of the value of the same; and if they should offer you gold or silver in exchange for your articles, you will pretend to hold the same in slight regard, showing them copper, pewter or lead and giving them an impression as if the minerals last mentioned were by us set greater value on.35





For the expedition, the Dutchman was given three small ships – the Limmer, the Zeemeeuw and the Bracq – with a total crew of ninety-four sailors and seventeen soldiers. We know nothing about how Tasman felt about his next great assignment, because no log or journal of his second epic voyage survives. However, the charts of his journey tell us where he sailed. After leaving Batavia in February 1644, he sailed east in the direction of Torres Strait, reaching the western side of Cape York Peninsula at nearly the site where fellow Dutchman Janszoon had first begun his journey in the gulf nearly forty years before. Tasman then sailed south and west around the Gulf of Carpentaria, passing a large island that had been seen by another Dutch sailor, Willem van Coolsteerdt, twenty years before but had remained nameless. Tasman gave it its European name, Groote Eylandt.

He then sailed west around the top of what is now the Northern Territory and south along the west coast to what is today North West Cape, in a voyage of six months and around 5000 kilometres, which was by far the longest exploration of Australia’s coastline yet.

It is believed that Tasman’s beautifully reproduced map of 1695 was a copy of one that was first made immediately after he finished his second voyage, in 1644. An inscription on the map, which is described as ‘The Secret Atlas of the East India Company’ states:



These lands were discovered by the [Dutch East India] Company’s explorers except for the northern part of New Guinea and the west end of Java. This work is put together from different writings as well as from personal observations by Abel Tasman, AD 1644, by order of his excellency the Governor-General Antonio van Diemen.





It was from Tasman’s maps of his second voyage that the south land gained the new name of New Holland, which it would keep for more than 150 years, until the publication of Matthew Flinders’s maps in 1814.

Tasman’s was a remarkable navigational achievement. He was the first European to travel so far south across the world’s most southern oceans; to discover Van Diemen’s Land and New Zealand; and to sight the Fiji islands. And, as a result of his two great voyages, the Dutch were able to use his charts and those of earlier explorers to complete the map of large parts of Australia’s northern, western and southern coasts.

However, the Dutch East India Company was not overly excited by his achievement, as – again – he had brought back no treasure or promise of profitable trade. The land he discovered was relatively unproductive, with no apparent new sources of minerals, spices or tradeable food, and nor had he found any new passage to South America, which might have been of value to the Dutch.

Nonetheless, when he returned to Batavia, Tasman was granted a promotion and a pay rise and was appointed to the Council of Justice. In 1647, he commanded an expedition to Siam (Thailand), taking gifts to its king. The following year he commanded a fleet of eight ships sent against rival Spanish ships. He retired in comfortable circumstances as a merchant and landowner in 1653 and died in 1659, aged fifty-six.

After Tasman, Holland showed little further interest in Australia, and nor did any other European country until more than half a century later, when an English pirate made an unplanned visit.


CHAPTER 2

THE FIRST ENGLISHMAN

The first Englishman known to have visited the Australian mainland was William Dampier, who arrived in 1688, forty years after Abel Tasman and more than seventy years before Captain James Cook.

Pirate, navigator, writer, natural historian, naval officer and adventurer, Dampier was the first person to circumnavigate the globe three times, visiting Australia twice. He was born in East Coker, Somerset, in 1651 but little is known about his childhood. As a boy he attended a local grammar school and was able to read and write well. His father, who made his living on a small rented farm, died when William was ten years old; his mother died six years later. As an orphaned teenager, he said he was pleased when he was apprenticed to the master of a merchant, because he wanted to see the world:



My friends did not originally design me for the sea, but bred me at school till I came to years fit for a trade. But on the death of father and mother … and having removed me from Latin school to learn writing and arithmetic, they soon placed me with a master of a ship at Weymouth, complying with the inclinations I had very early of seeing the world.1





Dampier first sailed to France and then on a longer journey to Newfoundland but complained when he returned that he found it too cold. He was about to abandon a career at sea when the offer came for a voyage to the warmer climate of the East Indies.



But so pinched with the rigour of a cold climate, that upon my return I was absolutely against going to these parts of the world … Yet going up a while after London, the offer of a warm voyage, and a long one, both of which I always desired, soon carried me to sea again.2





At eighteen years old, he signed on to the John and Martha and sailed to Bantam, on the island of Java, the voyage lasting more than a year. Dampier said that the earlier voyages had ‘qualified’ him but that on this voyage he gained ‘more experience in navigation’.3

In 1673, following the outbreak of war between England and the Netherlands, twenty-two-year-old Dampier grew weary of staying ashore and enlisted on the Royal Prince. On the ship, he took part in two indecisive naval battles at Schooneveld, on the Dutch coast, in which more than eighty English and French ships fought sixty-four Dutch ships. The British had intermittently been at war with its trading rival the Netherlands for more than twenty years when, in May and June 1673, Britain and its French allies failed in both their attempts to crush the Dutch navy, which would have opened the way for an invasion of Holland.

Dampier said that he ‘fell very sick’ and witnessed a third sea battle with the Dutch later in the year from a hospital ship. The following year, after ‘languishing a great while’ and recuperating at his brother’s house, Dampier recovered his ‘old inclination for the sea’ and sailed to Jamaica, where he became the manager of a sugar plantation.

After only a short time, he admitted that he was unsuited to the planter’s life, so he quit and went back to sailing.



I was clearly out of my element there and therefore as soon as [my employer] Captain Heming came thither I disengaged myself from him and took my passage on board a sloop.4





Within months Dampier had changed jobs again, and for the next three years he was cutting and trading timber in the highly profitable logwood trade in the Gulf of Mexico.5 At the time, logwood was prized in Europe as a source of quality timber and also for the rich dye from its sap, which was used in the making of ink and printing of textiles. However, in mid-1676 Dampier was struggling to make a living from logging, and when his settlement was devastated by a storm, he turned to pirating:



For when the violent storm … took us, I was but just settling to work and not having a stock of wood to purchase such provision as was sent from Jamaica, … I with many more in my circumstances, was forced to range about to seek subsistence in company of some privateers then in the bay.6





There were at the time many English sailors pirating across the Spanish Main, the Carribean Sea, the Pacific side of Central America, and across the Pacific as far as the Philippine Islands. The Spanish Empire was largely one of plunder: the Spanish took gold, gems, spices, hides and much of the natural wealth from its domain; and in turn, pirates from England and other European countries raided Spanish ships and Spanish settlements.

Although Dampier described his business on the Spanish Main as privateering, it was in fact simple pirating. Privateers were ‘legalised’ by their own governments, in that they were licensed in wartime to raid enemy ships in return for a cut in the proceeds. The men Dampier joined were adventurers with no legal sanction from any government; they regarded any ship as fair game and shared their loot with no one.

Leaving Jamaica in April 1678, twenty-nine-year-old Dampier returned to England in August, and married. We know little about his wife, Judith, other than that she worked in the household of the Duke and Duchess of Grafton. Dampier made no mention of her in his extensive journals, and the only known record of her appears in an amended will of 1703, which was subsequently revoked.7

Six months after their marriage, in January 1679, Dampier returned, alone, to the Caribbean and resumed a life of piracy. He said it had been his original intention to return to Jamaica as a trader but his associates there had by now become pirates, so he decided to join them.

In 1680 Dampier, buccaneer Captain Bartholomew Sharp and a band of several hundred other pirates crossed the Darien isthmus (where the Panama Canal was later built) to plunder Spanish settlements on the Pacific coast.

Two years later, Dampier said, he and about twenty other pirates ‘took one of the vessels and our share of the [stolen] goods and ended up in Virginia’, which had been settled by Europeans earlier in the century and become a flourishing tobacco-growing region. He didn’t say why he went there or anything about the ‘trouble that befell’ him while he was there, but a little more than a year later he joined another famous English pirate, John Cooke, and seventy other men sailing to Chile and Peru on what would become Dampier’s first voyage around the world. Dampier emphasised that because of the length of their intended voyage, it was necessary during the preparation of the ship for the pirates to reach ‘an agreement on particular rules, especially temperance and sobriety’.8

After leaving North America, the pirates sailed on the eighteen-gun Revenge for the Cape Verde Islands and south along the West African coast, then to the southwest, and in early 1684 they rounded Cape Horn, where they met up with another pirate ship. Together they began raiding Spanish and Indian settlements along the west coast of South and Central America, including Chile, the Galápagos Islands, Peru, Mexico, Panama and southern California. As the ships came in sight of Cape Blanco (in current-day Costa Rica), Dampier wrote that Captain John Cooke, who had been ill,



then died all of a sudden; though he seemed in the morning likely to live … but it is usual with sick men coming from the sea, where they have nothing but sea air, to die off as soon as ever they come within view of the land.’9





Over the next two years, the pirates captured a number of ships and attacked several Spanish settlements along the Pacific coast, including Payta, in Peru, and Leon, in Nicaragua. The climax to the voyage might have been in May 1685, with the capture of a Spanish fleet in the Bay of Panama that was carrying treasure to Peru. A fleet of ten pirate ships with more than 900 men had assembled against the Spanish fleet of twenty-four smaller vessels, but the Spanish carried more guns and on the second day of the encounter, Dampier admitted, the pirates ‘were glad to escape’.10

By early in 1686 he seemed to begin to feel jaded by the ‘fatigues, hardships and losses’ that his lifestyle entailed, and was tempted by the prospect of greater treasure to switch to another English ship, the Cygnet, commanded by Captain Charles Swan, who was planning a voyage westward across the Pacific to the East Indies.11 Dampier said that some of the men still thought the world ended somewhere further to the west.



Here Captain Swan proposed to go into the East Indies. Many were well pleased with the voyage; but some thought, such was their ignorance, that he would carry them out of the world; for about two-thirds of our men did not think there was any such way to be found; but at last he gained their consents.





So on 31 March 1686, seven years after leaving England, Dampier joined about 150 other pirates on the Cygnet and another captured ship and sailed from the Mexican coast for Guam, more than 8000 kilometres across the Pacific. They knew that a little more than a hundred years before, in 1579, the Englishman Francis Drake had sailed this route in fifty days and that Thomas Cavendish had done it in forty-eight days in 1588. However, Dampier said they embarked on the journey with too little food:



We had not sixty days provisions at little more than ½ a pint of maize a day for each man and no other provision, except for 3 meals of salted Jew-fish, and we had a great many rats aboard, which we could not hinder from eating part of our daily maize.12





They reached the coast of Guam two months later, nearly starving. Dampier said they had only three days of provisions left and that the crew had been planning to eat him and the captain – but the captain first because he was meatier:



It was well for Captain Swan that we got sight of [the coast] before our provisions were spent, of which we had but enough for three days more, for I was afterwards informed the men had contrived first to kill Captain Swan and eat him when the victuals was gone, and after him all of us who were accessory to the voyage. This made Captain Swan say to me after our arrival at Guam, ‘Ah! Dampier, you would have made them but a poor meal’, for I was lean and the Captain was lusty and fleshy.13





After landing in Guam, they found plenty of fresh food, including rice, watermelons, pineapples, oranges and limes. Dampier also provided the first English account of breadfruit, which was a significant source of local food. The English interest in cultivating breadfruit as a cheap source of food was the main reason for William Bligh’s later expedition to the Pacific and, thus, led to the mutiny on the Bounty.



The breadfruit (as we know it) grows on a large tree, as big and as high as our largest apple trees. It has a spreading head full of branches, and dark leaves. The fruit grows on boughs like apples: it is as big as a penny loaf, when wheat is at five shillings a bushel. It is of a round shape, and has a thick tough rind. When the fruit is ripe, it is yellow and soft; and the taste is sweet and pleasant. The natives of this island use it for bread: they gather it in when it is full grown, while it is green and hard, then they bake it in an oven, which scorcheth the rind and makes it black: but they scrape off the outside black crust, and the inside is soft, tender and white, like the crumb of a penny loaf … the fruit lasts in season about eight months of the year; during which time the natives eat no other sort of food of bread kind.14





After replenishing the ship, they headed further east for more than 2000 kilometres to St John, on the east of the Philippine island of Mindanao, which they had been told by a local friar was ‘exceedingly well stored with provisions’.15

They were ‘well provided’ at Mindanao by the locals, who feared the oppressive Spanish and, more recently, the Dutch traders more than they feared the pirates. Captain Swan was in no hurry to leave Mindanao, enjoying his time ashore, since he had the money to do so. Dampier explained in his log that about one-third of the crew lived ashore ‘with their comrades … and some with women servants, who they hired … as concubines’.16 However, most of the crew had run out of money and were forced to live on the ship. These men wanted to move on, since ‘want of being busy … made them so uneasy’.17 To occupy themselves, having learned from the locals that many ships – mostly Chinese, Portuguese and Spanish – were going to and from the harbour of Manila, over the next months they waited for unescorted ships, chased them down, took their cargo and abandoned their prisoners on the nearest land.
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